No. 89543-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARGARET 1. BRISCOE,

Petitioner

v.

RANDALL LAMONICUS McWILLIAMS,

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Margaret Briscoe asks this court to accept review of the decision designated in Part B of this motion.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals, Division I, decision filed in her appeal on August 26, 2013. Petitioner's timely Motion to Publish was denied on October 9, 2013. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-8 and a copy of the Order Denying the Motion to Publish is attached at page A-9.

Viewing itself constrained by what it asserted was the common law doctrine that only "the owner, keeper or harborer" can be liable for a dog's dangerous tendencies that result in harm to another, the Court of Appeals believed it was precluded from considering Petitioner's alternative theories of liability based upon agency/master-servant, premises liability, and negligent entrustment against Respondent Randall McWilliams, the possessor of the premises where the dog attack on Petitioner occurred. Petitioner seeks review of this decision.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

 Does the Court of Appeals' holding that only "owners, keepers or harborers" of dangerous dogs can be liable for dog bite attack conflict with the decision of Court of Appeals, Division II, in Gorman v. Pierce County, 176 Wn.App. 63, ___P.3d ____ (2013)(Petition for Review Pending) holding that Pierce County was liable for a dog attack, and with Division I's decision in *Livingston* v. City of Everett, 50 Wn.App. 655, 751 P.2d 1199 (1988) holding the plaintiff was entitled to have a jury determine whether the City of Everett was liable for a dog attack? RAP 13.4(b)(2).

- 2. Does the Court of Appeals' holding that only "owners, keepers or harborers" of dangerous dogs can be liable for dog bite attacks misapply this Court's decisions in dog attack cases and thus abrogate a dog bite victim's access to justice under the well-established doctrines of agency/master-servant, premises liability, and negligent entrustment? RAP 13.4(b)(1).
- 3. In light of the public health implications of the significant increase in the incidence of and medical costs associated with dog bites, should this Court hold that one in the possession of land may be liable for an injury caused by a dog bite under established premises liability principles? RAP 13.4(b)(4).

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court of Appeals, at pp. 2-3 of the slip opinion, accurately recited the salient facts noted in quotes below. Since the Court of Appeals affirmed on the basis that only "owners, keepers or harborers" can be liable

in Washington for a dog bite, some additional facts supportive of Petitioner's causes of action for respondent superior (agency), premises liability, and negligent entrustment are also set forth:

"Randall McWilliams [Respondent] rented an apartment from his friend, Victor Greer, beginning in March 2009. The lease was on a month-to-month basis and prohibited pets. During the lease, his brother Levi would visit and bring Jersey, his pit bull. If other people were present at the apartment, Levi would ensure Jersey was locked either in one of the rooms or in the downstairs garage." (Slip. Op. 2.)

Randall knew that Jersey needed to be isolated when strangers were around. CP 90, 111. Randall knew that Levi and Jersey were pretty much inseparable. CP 102, 114. Randall and his brother Levi were close and, among other things, had previously lived together along with Jersey and Levi's girlfriend Elizabeth Rowland. CP 92, 99, 108, 120-121. Earlier in Randall's tenancy of the townhouse, Elizabeth had performed contract work there for Respondent five mornings a week, Levi would sometimes come over with Jersey, and Randall had no rule against Jersey being there. CP 110, 111.

"Greer decided to sell his apartment in early 2010, so Randall began the process of moving out. Greer listed the apartment with a realty company and informed Randall that real estate agents would have access to the apartment via the lockbox installed on the front door. On July 14, 2010, Randall left for California. Randall informed Greer he would be out of the apartment by July 15, 2010. Randall hired Levi to clean the apartment and move some of Randall's items to their mother's house. Randall agreed to pay Levi \$300 for the work." (Slip. Op. 2.)

In July 2010, Levi was homeless and staying on friends' couches and he had Jersey with him. CP 101. Randall knew his brother was homeless. CP 87, 113.

"On July 16, 2010, Randall called Levi to check in on the cleaning. According to Randall, Levi told him the cleaning would be completed by that evening. Randall testified at his deposition that "I presumed he was going to be done [by July 16]. I anticipated he'd probably have to go back and get some cleaning supplies, but the majority of the job was going to be done."3 [FN3 reference by the court to "Clerk's Papers at 96".] After speaking with Levi, Randall deposited the \$300 into Elizabeth Rowland's (Levi's girlfriend's) account." (Slip. Op. 2.)

"That same day, July 16, Randall contacted Greer and informed him the apartment was clean and vacant. Greer then telephoned Margaret Briscoe, his aunt, to request that she visit the apartment the next day, July 17, to confirm that Randall had moved out. Randall did not know Greer requested Briscoe to come to the apartment on July 17." (Slip. Op. 3.)

"Levi had not finished cleaning by July 16. Levi was still at the apartment on July 17, with Jersey. On July 17, Levi left the apartment to get some cleaning supplies with Jersey loose in the apartment. Briscoe came to the apartment while Levi was out. When she entered, Jersey attacked her, injuring her legs." (Slip. Op. 3.)

When he heard of a dog attack on Briscoe at his apartment, Randall immediately knew the dog must have been Jersey. CP 97-8.

Briscoe sued Levi and Rowland (Jersey's owners), Randall, and Greer, the owner/landlord. CP 1. Briscoe voluntarily dismissed Greer. CP 172-3. Briscoe obtained orders of default against Levi and Rowland, who are judgment proof. CP 170-1, 175.

Briscoe's causes of action against Randall included respondent superior (agency), premises liability, and negligent entrustment, as well as a claim for violation of the lease agreement as a third-party beneficiary. CP 4. Randall moved to dismiss all of the claims under CR 12(b)(6). CP 11-14. The court dismissed the third-party beneficiary claim. CP 42-3. Randall subsequently moved for summary judgment on the three remaining claims, arguing generally that only owners, keepers or harborers of a dog could be held liable for injuries. CP 48-50. He specifically argued that no Washington case had ever permitted a dog bite victim to recover based on

agency law. CP 49-50. The trial court granted the motion and dismissed all three claims. CP 167-9.

Because all claims had been resolved, the trial court entered final judgment. CP 174-78. Division I affirmed, citing several decisions of this Court:

Under the longstanding common law rule announced in *Markwood* [v. *McBroom*, 110 Wash. 208, 188 Pac. 521 (1920)] and reiterated in *Frobig* and *Clemmons*, a plaintiff injured by an animal must seek recovery from the owner, keeper or harborer of that animal. The common law precludes Briscoe's alternative theories of liability.

Slip Op. 4.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

I. The Decision of the Court of Appeals Is in Conflict with Two Other Decisions of the Court of Appeals.

(Issue 1)

The decision of Division I in the instant case conflicts with *Gorman* v. Pierce County, 176 Wn.App. 63, ___P.3d ____ (2013)(Petition for Review Pending), in which Division II recognized a duty of care owed by those (Pierce County) who are in the position of preventing foreseeable harm by a dog with dangerous propensities even though not the "owner, keeper or harborer." To the same effect as *Gorman* is Division I's own opinion in *Livingston v. City of Everett*, 50 Wn.App. 655, 751 P.2d 1199 (Div. I, 1988). Division I's decision in this case cannot be harmonized with

Gorman and Livingston, save on the ground that one who does not own, keep, or harbor a dog can be held liable in negligence for injuries, only if that defendant is a governmental entity. Immunizing private entities in factual circumstances where a state, county or municipality can be held liable establishes an irrational precedent that contravenes the premise of the Legislature's directive that governmental entities and private parties are liable to the same extent for their tortious conduct. RCW 4.92.090; RCW 4.96.010. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the Gorman and Livingston decisions. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

II. The Decision of the Court of Appeals Misapplies a Decision of the Supreme Court Thus Abrogating Petitioner's Access to Justice.

(Issue 2)

The Court of Appeals' holding that "a plaintiff injured by an animal must seek recovery from the owner, keeper or harborer of that animal" (Slip Op. at p. 8) misapplies this Court's precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1). While this Court has limited the liability of a landlord for dog attacks occurring on leased premises, none of the decisions cited by the Court of Appeals stands for the proposition that *only* an owner, keeper or harborer can be held liable to the victim of a dog bite attack, particularly where, as here, liability is asserted under other well established principles of common law negligence.

This Court's "owner, keeper, or harborer" analysis traces its roots to the Court's 1920 decision in *Markwood v. McBroom*, 110 Wash. 208, 188 P. 521 (1920). The critical phrase in *Markwood* (110 Wash. at 211) that has been cited for the "common law" principle is as follows:

At common law a person would not be liable for an injury resulting from the bite of a dog unless he was the owner, keeper, or harborer of the dog. *Decker v. Gammon*, 44 Me. 322, 69 Am. Dec. 99 (1857); *McClain v. Lewiston Interstate*, etc., Ass'n, 17 Idaho 63, 104 P. 1015, 25 L. R. A. (N. S.) 691, 20 Ann. Cas. 60 (1909).

An analysis of the cases relied upon by *Markwood*, and *Markwood* itself, will show that they are actually favorable to Petitioner's position.

McClain v. Lewiston Interstate, a 1909 opinion of the Idaho Supreme Court, supports Petitioner's position in the instant case. In McClain the plaintiff was riding a race horse at defendant Lewiston Interstate Fair and Racing Association's race track when a dog under the control of an individual defendant ran after the race horse, causing it to fall and injure the rider. A verdict in favor of the rider against the individual defendant who brought the dog to the racetrack and had control of it (a keeper or harborer) was affirmed. Additionally, the jury's verdict against the race track (the possessor of the premises where the injury occurred) was also affirmed, with the Supreme Court of Idaho stating:

The fair association knew the dog went upon the fair grounds and took no steps to restrain the dog or see that he did not become a dangerous agency, but relied upon Norman Vollmer and his sister to take proper care and properly restrain the dog. In such case the association was responsible for the acts of Norman Vollmer. Under all of these circumstances we are satisfied that it was the duty of the fair association not to permit dogs or any other dangerous agencies to go upon the racetrack where the plaintiff had a right to presume safety; and that it was negligence on the part of the association to permit the dog to go unrestrained upon the fair grounds and the racetrack, and the jury were warranted in concluding that it was negligence, and that they were liable as well as the other defendant for the injury resulting from the acts of such dog.

17 Idaho at 97. If Petitioner Margaret Briscoe is substituted for "plaintiff" and Respondent Randall McWilliams is substituted for the "fair association" in the above quote, the statement perfectly describes the instant case.

Decker v. Gammon is an 1857 opinion of the Supreme Judicial Court of Maine and was a case where a horse owner sued a neighboring property owner whose horse got loose and came onto the plaintiff's property, injuring the plaintiff's horse. The case has an interesting historical recitation of the "three classes of cases in which the owners of animals are liable for injuries done by them" to property or persons. 44 Me. at 327. But the case says nothing about limiting liability in any other situation. The defendant owner in *Decker* was liable because his horse got loose and injured the plaintiff's horse on the plaintiff's property. 44 Me. at 329-30. The case only discussed and dealt with "owners" of an animal.

Markwood itself does not stand for the proposition that there can be no other theory or claim of liability for a dog bite against a person or entity other an "owner, keeper, or harborer." Markwood dealt with a claim against the receiver of the assets of a corporation for a dog attack that occurred on neighboring premises wherein the receiver had no knowledge of the dog or that it was being kept on the grounds of the company for which he was the receiver. The case was brought under a state statute and Spokane ordinance dealing with the liability of owners and keepers of dogs, and this Court found insufficient evidence against the receiver to uphold a verdict against him. The case did not deal with claims of liability based upon respondeat superior (agency), premises liability, or negligent entrustment such as were alleged in the instant case.

The other cases cited by the Court of Appeals similarly fail to support its holding that "the common law precludes Briscoe's alternative theories of liability." *Frobig v. Gordon*, 124 Wn.2d 732, 881 P.2d 226 (1994) and *Clemmons v. Fidler*, 58 Wn. App. 32, 791 P.2d 257 (Div. II, 1990) each dealt with a claim made against the landlord of the premises for the acts of a tenant.

In *Frobig*, 124 Wn.2d at 735, this Court stated:

The rule in Washington is that the owner, keeper, or harborer of a dangerous or vicious animal is liable; the landlord of the owner, keeper, or harborer is not. Clemmons v. Fidler, 58 Wn.

App. 32, 35-36, 791 P.2d 257, review denied, 115 Wn.2d 1019 (1990); *Markwood v. McBroom*, 110 Wash. 208, 211-12, 188 P. 521 (1920); *Shafer v. Beyers*, 26 Wn. App. 442, 446-447, 613 P.2d 554, review denied, 94 Wn.2d 1018 (1980). In short, liability flows from ownership or direct control. *Clemmons*, at 37; *Shafer*, at 446; see also RCW 16.08.040 (owner of dog liable for dog's attacks). (Emphasis added.)

Similarly in *Clemmons*, in response to the argument that the landlord could be liable if he had knowledge of the presence of a dangerous dog owned by a tenant, the Court of Appeals stated: "We disagree; the landlord's knowledge is immaterial. We hold that the common law rule applies: only the owner, keeper, or harborer of the dog is liable for such harm." 58 Wn.App at 34 (Emphasis added). The statement as to the "common law" is again in the context of a claim against a landlord. The court in the next paragraph cites *Markwood v. McBroom, supra*, for this proposition. *Id.* at 35. Had the *Frobig* and *Clemmons* courts held that only owners, keeper or harborers could ever be held liable for a dog bite, they would not have had to engage in any discussion whatsoever on the law governing a landlord's liability for the acts of a tenant, let alone such a lengthy and extensive analysis of same.

As did the Court of Appeals in this case, both *Frobig* and *Clemmons* cite *Markwood* as first announcing in Washington the common

law principle limiting dog bite liability to "owners, keepers, or harborers." Except for the instant case, those claims were based solely on the defendant's status as landlord and regardless of whether the landlord knew of the presence of the dangerous animal or not. The landlords in those cases were clearly not the possessors who controlled the premises, nor did they play a role in creating the hazardous condition. Petitioner takes no exception to that rule as being the rule in Washington and accordingly dismissed the landlord, Victor Greer, as a defendant in the trial court. Here, the Respondent was not a landlord, he was the tenant in possession and control of the premises, and Levi McWilliams was not a tenant, he was employed by the Respondent, his brother. This is not a case of landlord liability for the negligence of a tenant.

Markwood was properly decided but does not support the proposition that no person or entity other than an "owner, keeper, or harborer" can be liable for a dog bite. Allowing Petitioner's claim to proceed against the Respondent, the possessor of the premises who is not the landlord, is consistent with that rule. Markwood is a case limited to its

¹ Shafer v. Beyers, 26 Wn. App. 442, 446-447, 613 P.2d 554 (Div. I, review denied, 94 Wn.2d 1018 (1980)), also cited in the quote from Frobig, likewise cited Markwood. Shafer also involved the affirmance of dismissal of an owner/landlord who did not reside on the premises. And Johnston v. Ohls, 76 Wn.2d 398, 457 P.2d 194 (1969) was cited for the common law proposition in Clemmons (58 Wn.App at 35) but that was a case against the owner of the dog that ran in front of a motorcycle causing an accident.

specific facts – a receiver who had no knowledge, or reason to know, of an animal's dangerous propensities – and does not stand for the broad, sweeping proposition for which it is being cited.²

This misconstruction, if allowed to stand, results in this Petitioner losing her day in court where the instrumentality of her injury happened to be a dog. In other circumstances – if for example she were injured due to a slippery substance left on the floor by the Respondent's brother Levi when he did his cleaning work for the Respondent – there would be no question of liability under principles of agency. Or, as previously noted, *supra* at p. 4, the Respondent employed Elizabeth Rowland on earlier occasions to work for him at the premises, knowing that his brother Levi would visit her and bring the dog he knew to be dangerous; had Petitioner lawfully come to the Respondent's premises at that time and been attacked, under this ruling of the Court of Appeals, Petitioner would have no action against the Respondent!

_

² Case law from other states uniformly imposes a duty on the person in control of premises to exercise a duty of care to invitees for animals present on the property. See, e.g., Schrum v. Moskaluk, 655 N.E.2d 561 (Ind. Ct, App. 1995); Burrell v. Meads, 569 N.E.2d 637, 639 (Ind. 1991) (citing Hammond v. Allegrett, 262 Ind. 82, 311 N.E.2d 821 (Ind. 1974); Burrell, 569 N.E.2d at 639-640 (citing Restatement (Second) of Torts § 343); Langan v. Valerie Wilson Travel, Inc., 2008 U.S. Dist. Lexis 55323 (D.S.C. July 21, 2008); Garrett v. Overland Garage & Parts, Inc., 882 S.W.2d 188, 190-192 (Mo. Ct. App. 1994); Savory v. Hensick, 143 S.W.3d 712, 715-717 (Mo. Ct. App. 2004). See also Landings Association, Inc. v. Williams, 309 Ga.App. 321, 325, 711 S.E.2d 294 (2011) (citing Beard v. Fender, 179 Ga.App. 465, 346 S.E.2d 901 (1986)).

To deprive injured victims from pursuing their tort remedies where the injury is caused by a dog, but not by any other instrumentality, is an anomalous departure from the duty of care owed by a person or entity in the position of the Respondent to those lawfully on the premises. Such a rule would grant an "avoid liability free card" only where a dog caused the injury. Such a result would ignore the time honored remedies of Anglo-Saxon jurisprudence found in the legal doctrines of agency/master-servant (respondeat superior), premises liability, and negligent entrustment.

In premises liability cases, Washington courts have found the existence of a specific and unreasonably dangerous condition in a wide variety of factual situations involving physical conditions, activities, naturally occurring hazards, etc.³ Similarly, under the doctrine of respondent superior, the Respondent can be liable for the negligent acts of his brother, who was in his employ when Petitioner was injured by the brother's conduct if within the scope or course of employment. *See, e.g., Dickinson v.*

See, e.g., Iwai v. State, 129 Wn.2d 84, 915 P.2d 1089 (1996) (naturally accumulated snow and ice); Degel v. Majestic Mobile Manor, Inc., 129 Wn.2d 43, 914 P.2d 728 (1996) (fast flowing creek adjacent to a child's play area); Pimentel v. Roundup Company, 100 Wn.2d 39, 666 P.2d 888 (1983) (can of paint overhanging shelf fell on patron's foot); Jarr v. Seeco Construction Co., 35 Wn.App. 324, 666 P.2d 392 (1983) (falling sheetrock injured business invitee at construction site); Presnell v. Safeway Stores, Inc., 60 Wn.2d 671, 374 P.2d 939 (1962) (banana peel on ground in supermarket); Arnold v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc., 157 Wn.App. 649, 240 P.3d 162 (2010) (an invitee worked on premises where construction activity caused asbestos to be a regular presence at shipyard).

Edwards, 105 Wn.2d 457, 466, 716 P.2d 814 (1986). There is a factual issue to be determined by a jury even if the acts committed may not have been authorized by the employer.⁴ And similarly, Washington has adopted the doctrine of negligent entrustment, based upon the Restatement (Second) of Torts.⁵

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