NO. 89543-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARGARET L. BRISCOE,

Petitioner,

VS.

RANDALL LAMONICUS McWILLIAMS,

Respondent,

and

LEVITICUS JADE McWILLIAMS, ELIZABETH ANN ROWLAND, and VICTOR GREER,

Defendants.

APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT Honorable Susan Craighead, Judge

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

REED McCLURE
By Pamela A. Okano
Attorneys for Respondent

WSBA #7718

Address:

Financial Center 1215 Fourth Avenue, Suite 1700 Seattle, WA 98161 (206) 292-4900

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

A. A SHORT PRIMER ON WASHINGTON DOG LIABILITY LAW.

A short primer on Washington dog liability law will be helpful in understanding why this case is not appropriate for review. In Washington liability for a dog attack can be either statutory or under common law. The relevant statute, RCW 16.08.040(1), provides:

The *owner* of any dog which shall bite any person while such person is in or on a public place or lawfully in or on a private place including the property of the owner of such dog, shall be liable for such damages as may be suffered by the person bitten, regardless of the former viciousness of such dog or the owner's knowledge of such viciousness.

(Emphasis added.) By its terms, the statute makes the *owner* of a dog strictly liable, without regard to knowledge. *Beeler v. Hickman*, 50 Wn. App. 746, 751-52, 750 P.2d 1282 (1988).

Under the common law, liability flows from ownership or direct control of the animal. *Frobig v. Gordon*, 124 Wn.2d 732, 735, 881 P.2d 226 (1994). A person cannot be liable for an injury resulting from a dog

bite unless he or she is the owner, keeper, or harborer of the dog. Markwood v. McBroom, 110 Wash. 208, 211, 188 P. 521 (1920); see generally 4 Am. Jur. 2D Animals § 73.

A dog owner, keeper, or harborer may be strictly liable only if he or she knows of the animal's vicious propensities. *Frobig*, 124 Wn.2d at 735 n.1. Absent such knowledge, the dog owner, keeper, or harborer may be liable in negligence, but only if he or she failed to reasonably prevent harm. *Id*. In short, Washington courts have consistently refused to deviate from the rule that liability resulting from the ownership and management of an animal rests exclusively with the owner, harborer, or keeper.²

B. THE PANEL'S DECISION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH THIS COURT'S DECISIONS.

1. The Panel's Decision Follows This Court's Decisions.

Although plaintiff cites RAP 13.4(b)(1) as a basis for her petition, she does *not* claim the panel's decision *conflicts* with this Court's animal cases she cites, *Markwood v. McBroom*, 110 Wash. 208, 188 P. 521 (1920), and *Frobig v. Gordon*, 124 Wn.2d 732, 881 P.2d 226 (1994). For that reason alone, review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) is not proper.

² See, e.g., Sligar v. Odell, 156 Wash. App. 720, 233 P.3d 914 (2010), rev. denied, 170 Wn.2d 1019 (2011); Beeler v. Hickman, 50 Wn. App. 746, 750 P.2d 1282 (1988).

Plaintiff instead claims the panel here "misapplied" those decisions. As will be discussed, what plaintiff is really arguing is that this Court did not mean what it said in those cases.

In *Markwood* plaintiff sought to hold a lessee's receiver liable for a fatal dog bite. The receiver had taken possession of the leased land before the attack. Unbeknownst to the receiver, a third person was keeping dogs on the land, and one of the receiver's employees was feeding them.

This Court reversed a verdict for plaintiff and remanded for judgment in favor of the receiver, the possessor of the land. In so doing, this Court, relying on common law³, held (110 Wash. at 211):

We are quite unable to see any theory upon which the verdict and judgment in this case can be sustained without facts, or justifiable inference from facts, which would show that the receiver was the harborer, keeper, or had control of the dogs. This question being at the very threshold of the appeal, and being decisive thereof, it is not necessary to discuss or determine any other question presented in the briefs.

Id. at 213 (emphasis added). Plaintiff's claims that none of the decisions cited by the panel stands for the proposition that only an owner, harborer, or keeper can be liable and that *Markwood* does not hold that *only* the

³ The Markwood court also held that the statute then in effect and a city ordinance did not apply because they too were limited to the owner, keeper, and harborer. 110 Wash. at 212. Contrary to what plaintiff claims at page 10 of her petition, this Court decided the case under the common law as well as under the statute and ordinance. *Id.* at 211-12.

owner, keeper, or harborer of a dog can be liable are baseless. (Petition 7, 10, 12)

Here, plaintiff claims that Randy, the absent possessor of land where the dog attack occurred, should be liable, even though he was not the dog's owner, keeper, or harborer. Far from conflicting with *Markwood*, the panel's decision that Randy cannot be liable follows *Markwood*.

Markwood did cite McClain v. Lewiston Interstate Fair & Racing Ass'n, 17 Idaho 63, 104 P. 1015 (1909), and Decker v. Gammon, 44 Me. 322 (1857), but solely for the proposition that under the common law, only the owner, harborer, or keeper of a dog can be liable for a dog bite. 110 Wash. at 211. Those cases are otherwise inapposite.⁴

As will be discussed, *Frobig* cited with approval Division II's decision in *Clemmons v. Fidler*, 58 Wn. App. 32, 791 P.2d 257, *rev. denied*, 115 Wn.2d 1019 (1990). *Clemmons* rejected a plaintiff's attempt to use common law landlord-tenant principles to hold a landlord liable for an attack by a tenant-owned dog. Noting that the common law and statutory law are consistent, *id.* at 35-37, the court declared:

⁴ Plaintiff's claim that *McClain* is similar to the instant case borders on the frivolous. Unlike the fair association, Randy McWilliams did not know the dog was on his premises. Unlike the fair association, which knew there would be horses on its race track, there is no evidence Randy knew the landlord had sent plaintiff to his apartment. (CP 76)

We hold that the common law rule applies: only the owner, keeper, or harborer of the dog is liable for such harm. This rule is consistent with our case law, with our former criminal and present civil statutes on dogs

[L]iability flows from ownership or direct control, and the *owner* of a danger dog is the person who must insure himself against such liability.

Id. at 34-35, 37 (emphasis added).

Although *Frobig* involved a tiger, the same rules applicable to a vicious dog are applicable to wild animals in Washington. 124 Wn.2d at 737. In *Frobig*, plaintiff sought to hold the landlords of the tiger owner liable. The Court of Appeals had ruled plaintiff was entitled to go to trial on common law landlord-tenant principles. In an unanimous opinion, this Court reversed and affirmed summary judgment for the landlords. Citing *Clemmons* with approval, *Frobig* explained:

The rule in Washington is that the owner, keeper, or harborer of a dangerous or vicious animal is liable; the landlord of the owner, keeper, or harborer is not. In short, liability flows from ownership or direct control.

The wild animals were [their owner's] alone, and under Washington law liability resulting from the ownership and management of those animals rests with [their owner] alone.

124 Wn.2d at 735, 737 (citing *Clemmons*, 58 Wn. App. at 35-36, 37) (citations omitted; emphasis added). In other words, *Frobig* reaffirmed the common law rule that only those with control of the animal—the owner, harborer, or keeper—can be liable.

Thus, in holding Randy not liable as a matter of law, the panel assumed this Court meant what it said in *Frobig* and *Markwood*: only the owner, keeper, or harborer of the animal in question can be liable. Randy McWilliams was not the owner, keeper, or harborer of Levi McWilliams' dog. There is no conflict between the panel's decision and any decision by this Court.

Plaintiff attempts to distinguish these cases as involving whether a landlord, not a tenant, can be liable for a dog he or she did not own, harbor, or keep. But *Markwood* involved an attempt to impose liability on a tenant's receiver, not the landlord. And although the *Frobig* and *Clemmons* defendants were landlords, the holdings in both cases were unequivocal: because liability flows from ownership or direct control of the animal, only the owner, harborer, or keeper of the animal can be liable.

Plaintiff's reliance on cases from other jurisdictions at page 13, n.2, of her petition cannot support review. RAP 13.4(b). In any event, plaintiff's cases do not support her position. Some did not even involve animals or if they did, the animals had no owner, keeper, or harborer.⁵ Some involved defendants who were the owners of the dog.⁶

⁵ See Burrell v. Meads, 569 N.E.2d 637 (Ind. 1991) (fall from map balanced on rafter); Hammond v. Allegretti, 262 Ind. 82, 311 N.E.2d 821 (1974) (slip and fall in icy parking lot); Beard v. Fender, 179 Ga. App. 465, 346 S.E.2d 901 (1986) (fall off ladder while trying to eradicate wasps' nest); Landings Ass'n, Inc. v. Williams, 309 Ga. App. 321, 711

Langan v. Valerie Wilson Travel, Inc., No. 9:06-cv-03511-CWH (D.S.C. July 21, 2008) (2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 55323), an unpublished decision, involved a completely different fact pattern than the instant case. There the employee/dog owner had a written contract with her employer allowing her to keep her dog in her private office. Despite this agreement, the dog was left to roam. Prior to the attack in question, senior management had been told the dog was not being kept in its owner's office as required by the contract and was causing problems with clients and employees. Indeed, before the attack, the dog had behaved aggressively towards various persons at least 10 times.

Schrum v. Moskaluk, 655 N.E.2d 561 (Ind. App. 1995), also involved a different fact pattern. Unlike here, the defendant landowners were holding open their property to the public for a garage sale. In addition, the opinion, which has not been cited by any other dog bite decision, fails to cite a single fact suggesting that defendant landowner—who had no actual knowlede of the dog's presence—reasonably should

S.E.2d 294 (2011) (resident killed by wild alligator), rev'd on other grounds, 728 S.E.2d 577 (2012).

⁶ See Garrett v. Overland Garage & Parts, Inc., 882 S.W.2d 188 (Mo. App. 1994); Savory v. Hensick, 143 S.W.3d 712 (Mo. App. 2004).

⁷ Although the landlord in the instant case was trying to sell the premises, the real estate agent was supposed to contact Randy McWilliams if and when the property was to be shown. The real estate agent did not contact Randy before the incident at issue here. (CP 77)

have known it was there. Absent such a fact, Schrum would be contrary to Washington premises liability law, which requires plaintiffs to show a landowner's "actual or constructive notice of the unsafe condition." Iwai v. State, 129 Wn.2d 84, 96, 915 P.2d 1089 (1996).

2. Even if Agency, Premises Liability, or Negligent Entrustment Rules Were Otherwise Applicable, No Evidence Supports Them Here.

Plaintiff claims this Court should abandon the well-established rule that only the owner, harborer, or keeper of the dog can be liable, in favor of common law agency, premises liability, and negligent entrustment law. Plaintiff implies that common law agency, premises liability, and negligent entrustment principles somehow trump equally well-established common law animal law principles and that she has somehow been deprived of a remedy that previously existed. But plaintiff cites no authority for this argument, because there is none. *See generally* 4 AM. Jur. 2D *Animals* § 73; RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS §§ 509, 518 (1977).

In any event, even if plaintiff's theories could otherwise be applicable in dog bite cases, they cannot help her here, because there is no evidence to support them.

First, plaintiff presented no facts that Levi was Randy's agent, as opposed to an independent contractor. One who retains an independent

contractor is generally not liable for the contractor's negligence. *Rogers v. Irving*, 85 Wn. App. 455, 464, 933 P.2d 1060 (1997). Plaintiff failed to produce a shred of evidence that Randy maintained the right of control over Levi's work, a critical factor in establishing agency. *See Larner v. Torgerson*, 93 Wn.2d 801, 804-05, 613 P.2d 780 (1980).

Second, even if Levi had been Randy's agent, he was so only with respect to cleaning the house. Randy did not authorize the dog to be there and did not know it was there. (CP 76) A tort committed by an agent while in the principal's employment is not chargeable to the principal when it emanates from a wholly personal motive and was done solely to gratify the agent's objectives or desires. Thompson v. Everett Clinic, 71 Wn. App. 548, 553, 860 P.2d 1054 (1993), rev. denied, 123 Wn.2d 1027 (1994); see also Deep Water Brewing, LLC v. Fairway Resources Ltd., 152 Wn. App. 229, 269, 215 P.3d 990 (2009), rev. denied, 168 Wn.2d 1024 (2010). In fact, courts elsewhere have ruled an employer is not liable for a dog bite where, as here, the employee brings the dog to work for his own convenience. Dickson v. Graham-Jones Paper Co., 84 So. 2d 309 (Fla. 1955); Hackett v. Dayton Hudson Corp., 191 Ga. App. 442, 382 S.E.2d 180 (1989); Croley v. Moon Enterprises, Inc., 118 Ohio Misc. 2d 151, 770 N.E.2d 148 (2001).

Plaintiff's premises liability theory also has no evidence to support it. Washington follows RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 343 in non-animal premises liability cases. Section 343(a) provides:

A possessor of land is subject to liability for physical harm caused to *his* invitees by a condition on the land if, but only if, he

(a) knows or by the exercise of reasonable care would discover the condition, and should realize that it involves an unreasonable risk of harm to such invitees, and

. . . .

(Emphasis added.)

Plaintiff was not Randy's invitee, as the first sentence of section 343 requires. But even if she had been, and even, assuming *arguendo*, that an animal can be a "condition on the land," there is no evidence that fulfills section 343(a). Randy did not know, nor by the exercise of reasonable care, could he have known, that—

- 1) Levi would bring the dog to the apartment he was supposed to clean; *or*
- 2) the dog was at the apartment the day *after* Levi assured him he would be finished; *or*

⁸ The RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS contains separate sections for animals, making an animal's possessor or harborer liable for harm inflicted by the animal under certain circumstances. *See* RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS §§ 509, 518.

- 3) someone with a key would be coming to the apartment without giving him prior notification, *or*
- 4) Levi would leave the dog alone and loose in the apartment.

 Plaintiff's failure to produce any evidence as to any one of these is fatal to her premises liability claim.

Finally, for the same reasons, there is no evidence to support the negligent entrustment theory. Even if negligent entrustment could apply to allowing a cleaning person to enter premises, negligent entrustment "is based on the foreseeability of harm when one knew or should have known that the person to whom materials were entrusted was unable to safely handle the materials." *Hickle v. Whitney Farms, Inc.*, 148 Wn.2d 911, 925, 64 P.3d 1244 (2003). Here, as detailed in the previous paragraph, there is no evidence that harm was reasonably foreseeable by a reasonable person in Randy's shoes. This unforeseeability defeats plaintiff's negligent entrustment claim.

C. THE PANEL'S DECISION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THE COURT OF APPEALS.

Contrary to plaintiff's claim, the panel's decision does not conflict with either *Gorman v. Pierce County*, 176 Wn. App. 63, 307 P.3d 795 (2013), or *Livingston v. City of Everett*, 50 Wn. App. 655, 751 P.2d 1199, rev. denied, 110 Wn.2d 1028 (1988). In those cases, the defendant was the

city or county, which allegedly failed to fulfill its statutory or ordinance-created duty to control vicious dogs. Although governmental entities are liable for torts to the same extent as if they were a private person or corporation, RCW 4.96.010, a plaintiff must still overcome the public duty doctrine, which requires that the duty breached be owed to the injured person as an individual, not merely to the public in general. *Livingston*, 50 Wn. App. at 658; *see Gorman*, 176 Wn. App. at 75.

An exception to the public duty doctrine is the failure to enforce exception. Under that exception, a plaintiff within the class a statute is intended to protect can sue the government where its agents responsible for enforcing that statute actually know of its violation, yet fail to take corrective action despite a statutory duty to do so. *Gorman*, 176 Wn. App. at 77; *Livingston*, 50 Wn. App. at 658. It was this exception that created liability in both *Gorman* and *Livingston*.

Defendant Randy McWilliams is not a governmental entity. No statute provides a basis for imposing liability upon him. Randy did not actually know Levi's dog was even in his apartment, let alone that it was there a day after he expected Levi to have finished cleaning. The panel's decision here does not conflict with *Gorman* or *Livingston* or any other Court of Appeals decision, as required by RAP 13.4(b)(2). Review should be denied.

D. THE PANEL'S DECISION DOES NOT PRESENT AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST THIS COURT SHOULD REVIEW.

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